

IFAU – INSTITUTE FOR LABOUR MARKET POLICY EVALUATION

Swedish youth labour market policies revisited

Anders Forslund Oskar Nordström Skans

WORKING PAPER 2006:6

The Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation (IFAU) is a research institute under the Swedish Ministry of Industry, Employment and Communications, situated in Uppsala. IFAU's objective is to promote, support and carry out: evaluations of the effects of labour market policies, studies of the functioning of the labour market and evaluations of the labour market effects of measures within the educational system. Besides research, IFAU also works on: spreading knowledge about the activities of the institute through publications, seminars, courses, workshops and conferences; influencing the collection of data and making data easily available to researchers all over the country.

IFAU also provides funding for research projects within its areas of interest. The deadline for applications is October 1 each year. Since the researchers at IFAU are mainly economists, researchers from other disciplines are encouraged to apply for funding.

IFAU is run by a Director-General. The authority has a traditional board, consisting of a chairman, the Director-General and eight other members. The tasks of the board are, among other things, to make decisions about external grants and give its views on the activities at IFAU. A reference group including representatives for employers and employees as well as the ministries and authorities concerned is also connected to the institute.

Postal address: P.O. Box 513, 751 20 Uppsala Visiting address: Kyrkogårdsgatan 6, Uppsala Phone: +46 18 471 70 70 Fax: +46 18 471 70 71 ifau@ifau.uu.se www.ifau.se

Papers published in the Working Paper Series should, according to the IFAU policy, have been discussed at seminars held at IFAU and at least one other academic forum, and have been read by one external and one internal referee. They need not, however, have undergone the standard scrutiny for publication in a scientific journal. The purpose of the Working Paper Series is to provide a factual basis for public policy and the public policy discussion.

ISSN 1651-1166

Swedish youth labour market policies revisited^{*}

by

Anders Forslund^A and Oskar Nordström Skans^B

May 22, 2006

Abstract

The paper studies the efficiency of Swedish labour market policies for young workers. Using age discontinuities which define which policy regime an individual is covered by we present quasi-experimental evidence on the relative efficiency of different policy regimes currently in use. Results suggest that youth policies are more effective than the policies covering adult unemployed. The effects mainly appear early in the unemployment spell; we find no evidence of positive long run effects. To uncover which part of the policies that accounts for the positive effect, we use matching techniques to study the relative efficiency of youth programmes and general adult programmes which are available also for the young. The results indicate that youth programmes are significantly less effective than adult oriented programmes. Overall, the evidence thus suggest that youth policies speed up the transition from unemployment to jobs either due to pre-programme deterrence effects or because of more intense job search support from the public employment services before the programmes.

JEL-Codes: J64, J68

Keywords: Youth unemployment, program evaluation, pre-program effects

^{*} We thank Linus Lindqvist for excellent data assistance and Patrik Hesselius, Michael Svarer and seminar participants at IFAU for helpful comments.

^A Institute for labour market policy evaluation (IFAU), Box 513, SE-751 20 Uppsala, Sweden. E-mail: anders.forslund@ifau.uu.se, phone +46 (0)18 471 70 76.

^B IFAU. E-mail: oskar.nordstrom_skans@ifau.uu.se, phone +46 (0)18 471 70 79.

Table of contents

1	Introduction	3
2	Swedish ALMPs targeted at youth	6
3	Identification strategies	8
3.1	Identification of regime effects	9
3.2	Identification of the relative effects of different programmes for participants	9
4	Data and description	10
5	Results – effects of policy regimes	12
6	Results – the relative effects of programmes for young people	15
7	Conclusions	19
Refer	ences	21
A	Description of programme participants	23

1 Introduction

Youth unemployment and late labour market entry are of growing concern in the Swedish policy discussion. However, the large scale evaluations of Swedish youth labour market policies that exist are based on data from the 1990s and leave several issues unexplained.¹ This paper presents some additional evidence on the effectiveness of current youth labour market policies in order to fill some of this knowledge gap.

Swedish labour market programmes targeted at youth have a history dating back to 1984. Youth programmes were however not used on a larger scale until the start of the economic recession in the early 1990s. Currently, young unemployed are treated differently from other unemployed in both "hard" aspects, such as in the types of available programmes and the timing of the programmes and less easily measured aspects such as the priority that case workers should put into job search assistance according to various policy documents.

Whereas labour market programmes generally are administrated by the Public Employment Services (PES), unemployed in the age range 20-24 are sometimes referred to a municipality-provided program (the youth guarantee, YG), and other times referred to normal PES-administrated programmes. On average, programme placements take place earlier for individuals below 25 than for older unemployed.

Previously estimated effects of programmes for young people vary. Several earlier studies of the 1980s found positive effects, at least for some programmes under some circumstances and in the long run. But these results were based on small samples and cannot readily be generalised.² Larsson (2003) found negative employment and income effects of both labour market training for youth and youth practice in the early 1990s. In addition, she found that labour market training (but not youth practice) had a negative effect on the transition rates to regular education. Comparing youth practice and training, the former outperformed the latter, at least in the short run.³

¹ The only previous large sample studies are Larsson (2003) and Carling and Larsson (2005). See Calmfors et al (2004) for a review of other evaluations of Swedish youth programs and of Swedish labour market policies in general.

² The studies are surveyed in Calmfors et al (2004).

³ This result is in conformity with evaluation results for Swedish programmes for adults in the 1990s.

The only study of the municipality provided youth guarantee (Carling & Larsson, 2005) pertains to 1998, the first year of the programme. The evidence in that paper indicates that the employment prospects of the participants were not significantly affected by the introduction of the youth guarantee. Due to the shape of the hazard function the authors interpret their estimated zero net-effect as the sum of two opposing forces: a positive pre-programme effect and a negative effect from the time of program placement.

The overall aim of this paper is to provide new evidence on the effectiveness of Swedish youth labour market policies in promoting transitions from unemployment to work. To this end, we perform three types of analyses. *First*, we study the effects of being covered by each policy package depending on the age group (20-24 and 25+). The identifying strategy is to compare individuals who are close in age but are covered by different policy regimes. The results from this analysis will provide an overall judgement of the effectiveness of youth labour market policies. This analysis basically updates the results in Carling & Larsson (2005).

However, these estimates are very much "reduced form" in character since the policy package has many different components. One such component is that, as we have already mentioned, some youth programmes are run by the municipalities.⁴ This represents a more general trend towards more of decentralisation in Swedish labour market policies. Hence, in the *second* part of the analysis we analyse to what extent any effects of the policy regimes for youth may be attributed to the programme providers: does decentralisation of labour market policies improve the results? This question has not previously been addressed in connection with Swedish ALMPs.

Young people between 20 and 24 years old are exposed to different programme types. The *third* part of our analysis deals with the effects of training programmes compared to programmes with both training and workplace experience components ("practice programmes"). This analysis brings the analysis in Larsson (2003) more up to date.⁵

In the latter two parts of the analysis we cannot use age discontinuities for identification. Instead, we use matching techniques and identify the effects of

⁴ A complication related to the municipality programmes is that there is a serious lack of information about programme content. The scattered available evidence indicates that programme content varies quite a lot between municipalities.

⁵ Unlike Larsson (2003) we do not, however, compare participation in these programmes to non-participation.

the programs under the identifying assumption that participants in different forms of programs with the same background characteristics have the same expected outcomes irrespective of program they actually participate in. To this end, we use an unusually rich register data set which makes the causal interpretation more credible.

Our results, first, show that the policy regime for the 20-24 year olds is effective in shortening the unemployment spells, even though the effects are short-lived, providing a somewhat more positive picture than Carling and Larsson (2005). Second, municipality provided youth programmes are outperformed by labour market programmes provided by the PES. Finally, programmes providing practice seem to outperform training programmes for young people for some outcomes but not for others. Hence, these results are less clear-cut than the results in Larsson (2003).

Since the positive effects of the youth policies materialize before the programs are typically set in, a tentative overall conclusion is that the positive effects from youth policies are driven by higher quality search-assistance and/or pre-programme deterrence effects from early expected programme entry rather than from positive treatment effects for those actually participating in the programmes. This is supported by the fact that the youth programs are outperformed by the programs available for older unemployed when studying the effects on participants.

How do these results for Swedish youth labour market policies square with evidence from other countries? White & Knight (2003) surveyed the literature on the effects of labour market programmes for young people.⁶ Wage subsidy programmes generally seemed to increase the job-finding rate, whereas studies of job creation programmes in the public sector pointed to negative effects of such programmes. The results for vocational training programmes were mixed, whereas job search assistance programmes generally produced positive results. This pattern of programme effects is consistent with the general pattern of programme effects found for adults, both in Sweden and internationally (Calmfors, Forslund & Hemström, 2004; Martin & Grubb, 2001). Blundell et al. (2004) studied the New Deal for Young People in the UK. This programme has many components, two of which are mandatory job search assistance and wage subsidies.

⁶ See also the review in Heckman, LaLonde & Smith (1999) and the discussion in Heckman & Krueger (2003).

contributed to an increase in the job-finding probability, but that the treatment effect was much larger in the short run than in the long run. In applicable parts, these findings are in line with our results.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows. In section 2 we provide a background by discussing Swedish labour market policies targeted at young people. In Section 3 we discuss our identification strategies. Section 4 gives a data description. The results are presented in Section 5, dealing with the effects of different policy regimes, and Section 6, treating the relative effects of different programmes. Section 7 concludes the paper.

2 Swedish ALMPs targeted at youth

Until the early 1980s there were no programmes targeted at youth – young persons could participate in the same programmes as adults, i.e., training programmes and relief work (temporary public sector jobs). The first Swedish labour market programme explicitly targeted at youth was *youth teams* introduced in 1984. In 1987 and 1989 this programme was followed by two different versions of a programme called *schooling-in slots*. During 1992 *youth practice* was introduced. This programme, in contrast to its predecessors, rapidly reached large volumes. The programme was targeted at youth below the age of 25.

In the 1994 electoral campaign, the incumbent minister of labour promised that no young person (below age 25) should be left unemployed for more than 100 days. Instead, all young unemployed should be placed in programmes after 100 days of unemployment. The general election resulted in a new government, but the objective to refer young people to labour market programmes at an early stage of the unemployment spell has been present in one way or the other since the mid 1990s.

Since the early 1990s, Swedish municipalities are responsible for offering secondary education to all youth below age 20. In addition, the municipalities have an obligation to keep themselves informed about the employment status of all youth between 16 and 20 years of age. Since October 1995, Swedish municipalities have also had the opportunity to assume responsibility for the employment situation of youth between 18 and 19 years. This municipality provided program, called *municipality youth programme* (MYP), provides education or practice to facilitate a transition to work or to stimulate participation in

regular education. Although referral to the MYP is conditional on the signing of a contract between the municipalities and the PES almost all unemployed teenagers have been covered by such a contract and the MYP "market share" among programmes for teenagers has been nearly 100 percent since.⁷

Although on the agenda since 1994, the target that unemployed youths (below 25) should be placed in programmes within 100 days was not met by 1998. In 1998 there was a reform opening for the possibility of municipality provided youth programmes also for unemployed in the age range 20 to 24. A condition was that the municipality and the regional labour market authority signed an agreement to this effect – something which happened in some, but not all, of the municipalities. The contract meant that the PES could refer unemployed to the municipality in a programme called the *youth guarantee*⁸ (YG). The YG amounts to an obligation to offer the target group a full-time activity after 100 days of unemployment.⁹ The duration of the programme is capped at 12 months. In 2004, 205 out of 281 municipalities had signed an agreement with the regional labour market authority about the programme.

In contrast to the MYP for teenagers, the YG does not have a 100 % market share of programmes for 20-24 year olds. This happens for two reasons. The first is that some municipalities have chosen not to sign the contracts, and the second is that the PES may refer 20-24 year olds to programmes not targeted explicitly at youths. The two major programmes in this category are labour market training and practice programmes.

From this description it should be clear that Swedish labour market policies for relatively young workers have three different "regimes", one for teenagers (18-19 year olds), one for young adults (20-24) and one general regime (25+).

It is important to note that the presence of the municipality provided youth programmes is not the only difference in treatment between the different age groups. For instance, even in the municipalities that do not provide the YG-programme for young adults, we see much earlier programme placements for 24-year olds than for 25-year olds. We attribute this to a policy target that per-

⁷ According to Sibbmark & Forslund (2005), 265 municipalities (out of 281) had signed an agreement with the regional labour market authority in 2004 and the ones that had not signed appear to have had a very small number of unemployed teenagers.

⁸ Previously, the *development guarantee*.

⁹ The unemployment clock starts ticking from the day the unemployed youth registers as a job seeker at the public employment service.

tain to all PES activity, namely that young adults should be placed in programmes early.

A second important note is that youth unemployment is measured and targeted separately, suggesting that the PES-offices may put specific effort into job broking activities for this group. An indicator that this may be true is that some PES-offices have specific case-workers for young unemployed (see e.g. Lundin, 2004).

Thus, in our analysis we will try to first evaluate two of the three available policy regimes against each other.¹⁰ The second part of the analysis compares actual participants in municipality provided youth programmes to participants in general PES-provided labour market programmes. It should be noted that treatment by the municipality is somewhat of a black box from an evaluator's point of view, the municipalities are free to define the program as they choose and there is no systematic follow up of the actual implementation. Our final part of the analysis therefore compares participants in training programmes to participants in practice programmes in order to get some insights into which form of treatment works better for young unemployed workers.

3 Identification strategies

The two parts of our analysis use different types of identifying assumptions. In the first part we use age discontinuities to identify the effects of being part of one policy package relative to another. In the second part, which compares programme types and providers, we have to rely on comparisons between observably equivalent individuals in order to identify the effects. This analysis thus rests on stronger identifying assumptions than the previous part. However, we believe that by conditioning on participation in some form of programme (rather than comparing to further open unemployment) the results are less susceptible to alternative explanations.

¹⁰ We do not evaluate the policy regime for the teenagers. The main reason is that the difference in labour market performance between persons aged 19 and 20 is likely to be much larger than the difference between persons aged 24 and 25. Hence, a comparison between 19- and 20-year olds may reveal not only differences due to policy regimes but also due to "pure" age effects.

3.1 Identification of regime effects

In general we have three age based policy regimes, all of which are defined by the age of the unemployed. The first regime covers teenagers (age 18-19), the second covers young adults (20-24), and the third covers adult unemployed (25+). In this paper we only study the two latter.

Each regime may supply a number of characteristics, some which we may measure and some which we cannot measure. To summarize ideas, we may think of a regime as being defined by:

- The amount and quality of job search assistance provided before programmes
- The timing of programmes
- The selection of *who* goes into a program
- The length of programmes
- The content of programmes
- The economic compensation to programme participants

Note that since all of these items may be known in advance by the unemployed, it is possible that they affect the behaviour of the individual already *be*-*fore* they take effect. Therefore we choose to study workers covered by the different regimes already from the start of their unemployment spells.

Which of these regimes an unemployed is subject to is defined by his or her age. To further strengthen the identification, we include a linear function of age in days. This is to exclude the possibility that we are capturing age effects and attributing them as effects of policies. With such a control variable, we are only attributing systematic deviations from a linear relationship between date of births and outcomes as the effect of the reform. As we show, including further covariates does not matter substantially for our analysis.

Apart from estimating OLS regressions, we also estimate Cox proportional hazard models, which assume that the log of the hazard out of unemployment is a linear function of the covariates, whereas the baseline hazard may vary freely with time under analysis.

3.2 Identification of the relative effects of different programmes for participants

We do not use the age discontinuities when studying the relative efficiency of different programs on the actual participants. Even though individuals over and

below an age threshold are offered different mixes of programmes (if they participate at all), it may be misleading to make comparisons between the two groups if the selection processes into programmes are fundamentally different between the groups. Specifically, it is clear that the time to programs will have very different meaning for people covered by different regimes. A further indication that this is a real problem comes from the fact that our results suggest significant pre-treatment effects for young workers.

Instead we use matching techniques and compare workers aged 20 to 24 with similar (observed) labour market histories but who participate in different forms of programs. It is of course possible that the selection processes into the programmes differ between programmes, so that participants in some programmes are fundamentally different from participants in other programmes. To alleviate this identification problem, we adjust the comparisons with respect to a rich set of covariates. Our identifying assumption is that, conditional on covariates, there are no differences between participants in the municipality provided youth programmes and the programmes which also are available for the adult unemployed (and the same for participants in training programmes and practice programmes).

In general, we implement the identification strategy by means of propensity score matching.¹¹

4 Data and description

We use data from various population-wide registers collected in the IFAUdatabase. Our main data source which also defines our samples is the data base HÄNDEL which comprise various sets of information on all individuals registered at the PES including the timing of registration, program placements and reasons for leaving the registers. From this data base we get data on spells of registered unemployment, programs and various background characteristics. These data are available from 1990 to November 2005.

To complement the PES data, we add information about employment, earnings, schooling, welfare receipts and family situation from other registers which originally were collected by Statistics Sweden. These data are both used

¹¹ The standard assumptions underlying this estimator are well known, and will not be discussed here.

to construct control variables capturing family situation, immigration status, previous earnings, number of employers and welfare receipts and to construct similar outcome variables. Since the data coming from Statistics Sweden only are available up to 2003, the number of observations drops somewhat when studying these outcomes.

When studying the differences in regimes we follow individuals from the date of registration and look at various outcomes relative to this date.¹² When studying the effects of programs, we construct the data similarly but measure outcomes relative to the date of program placement. Program effects are studied for all youths aged between 20 and 24 starting a program between 1999 and 2003, whereas regime effects are identified from the differences between 24 and 25 years old individuals registering between 1999 and 2003.

Both the timing of programmes and the type of programme suggest that the discontinuity bites sharply on the age (in years) the individual will have 90 days after registration as unemployed and thus we use this age when studying regimes. This is consistent both with intentions stated in various policy documents that young workers should not be unemployed without program placement more than 100 days and with the regulations for the YG-programme stating that referral to programmes for workers below 25 should take place between the 90th and the 120th day of an unemployment spell.

In Figure 4.1 we show observable differences in how the unemployed are treated depending on age by showing differences between survival curves where the exit is programme start. We include all spells starting in 1999-2003 for young persons in ages between 22 and 27 years. In all cases we censor spells that end before the start of a programme. The similarity in survival within cohorts in ages 25-27 and 22-24, respectively, and the difference between these two groups are striking. This evidence forcefully suggests that we are justified in treating young people in those ages as covered by two different policy regimes. The survival curves further suggest that those in ages 22-24 years enter programmes significantly earlier than those between 25 and 27 years. Still after 600 days there is a marked difference between the younger group and the older, but the most striking difference occurs in the neighbourhood of 100 days after the beginning of the unemployment spell.

¹² Statistics Sweden's data are annual and are measured relative to the calendar year of registration.



Figure 4.1: Difference to 25 year olds in survival outside of program for different age groups.

5 Results – effects of policy regimes

In this section we estimate the effects of the youth regime on various labour market related outcome variables. This will give an estimate of the overall effects of the youth regime.

A first look at the programme effects can be provided by simply looking at the outflow to work from the unemployment registers, depending on age. Figure 5.1 shows differences in survival in the PES register where the exit is exit to work. The survival curves show that adults remain jobless to a much larger extent than the 22-24 year-olds. Furthermore, this difference occurs very early in the register spells – the main part of the difference arises within the

first 100 days, i.e., before (expected) programme start.¹³ The most natural interpretation of this finding is that it reflects either an effect of intensified job search assistance early in the unemployment spells of young people or a preprogramme deterrence effect.¹⁴ This interpretation as well as the main thrust of the results are well in accordance with the results in Carling & Larsson (2005).



Figure 5.1: Difference to 25 year olds in survival outside of job for different age groups.

In addition to the "suggestive" evidence in Figure 5.1, we present a number of different regressions for effects on a number of possible outcomes. First, we use two measures derived from the PES registers: the probability of being in the PES registers at different dates, hazards to employment and to any destina-

 $^{^{13}}$ The institutional framework implies that programme starts should occur after around 100 days. See the description of the youth policy regime in Section 2. See also the description of programme entrance in Figure 4.1. 14 See Hägglund (2006) for a discussion of regime in Section 2.

¹⁴ See Hägglund (2006) for a discussion of pre-programme effects as well as estimates of preprogramme effects based on randomised experiments.

tion outside the PES registers.¹⁵ These are outcomes considered in previous studies, which often have only had access to data from the National Labour Market Board. Second, we use information from registers collected by Statistics Sweden to look at future earnings, employment and social assistance take-up. These are outcomes that have rarely been considered in previous evaluations of Swedish youth labour market programmes.

Results are presented in Table 5.1. Note that the point of estimating the effects on various non-duration outcomes is that they study more long run effects that are measured outside of the initial unemployment spell. This is important to the extent that young persons are prone to have many and short spells of unemployment. We also present Cox proportional hazard regressions which are stratified on month of inflow. All regressions are presented in two versions – one with and one without a large number of controls. Including covariates should increase efficiency but can also be viewed as a test of whether there are remaining selection issues despite the discontinuity set-up.

The regression results first confirm the message of Figure 5.1: the young adults leave the register faster than the adults in the beginning but not later in the spells. This leads to a reduction by just above five days in the register during the first year after the beginning of the unemployment spell. However, looking at outcomes dated one year or more after the beginning of spells, nothing is significantly different from zero. The finding that there is no significant difference between the groups in the probability of being in the register after around one year suggests that young persons experience more of repeated unemployment spells than the adults (compare to Figure 5.1 which displays differences in survival).

Once again, we think that the evidence either suggests effects of intensified job search assistance or pre-programme deterrence effects. Given the insignificant long-run effects, a natural conjecture is that programme participation in the YG programme is less effective than participation in the PES programmes. This is the subject matter of the next section.

¹⁵ The distinction between being registered at any point in time and the hazard out of the register is potentially important for young people, who may very well experience multiple short spells of employment and non-employment.

Registration (PES) (# days from first registration)										
45d 90d 183d 365d 1095d Days in Inc. one year (t+2)										
No	-0.019**	-0.035**	-0.013**	-0.004	0.001	-5.003**	-0.013			
controls	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.836)	(0.014)			
With	-0.023**	-0.042**	-0.020**	-0.006	-0.000	-6.822**	-0.009			
Controls	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.734)	(0.013)			
N	251738	251738	251738	251738	198712	251634	132140			
	Empl. Empl. Social Hazard			zard	All ha	azards				
			Assist.	to	job					
	(t+1)	(t+2)	(t+2)	<120d	>120d	<120d	>120d			
No	-0.002	-0.008	-0.002	1.115**	1.008	1.117**	0.966**			
controls	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.003)	(0.012)	(0.013)	(0.009)	(0.009)			
With	-0.000	-0.007	-0.003	1.135**	1.090**	1.139**	1.053**			
Controls	(0.004)	(0.005)	(0.003)	(0.013)	(0.014)	(0.010)	(0.010)			
Ν	N 201939 156094 156094 334195					334	195			

Table 5.1: Effects of being 24 rather than 25 years old 90 days after registration.

Note: regressions are OLS, linear probability models or Cox Proportional Hazard models. All regressions controls for age in days at registration. Other covariates capture education, family situation, labour market history and demographic characteristics. The variables are the same as in the matching described in Appendix A except for time to program which is not relevant in this application. All variables are measured at the start of the registration spell. Income is log annual income. Employment is a dummy measured in November by Statistics Sweden. Social assistance is a dummy variable for positive benefits during the calendar year. * (**) Significant at the 5 % (1 %) level.

6 Results – the relative effects of programmes for young people

In this section we study the effectiveness of the youth programmes relative to other programmes. First, we compare the municipality youth programme to PES-provided alternatives. There are no previous direct studies of this issue although the timing of the hazards presented in Carling & Larsson (2005) as well as the results presented above suggest that the effects of the youth regime is less pronounced after the point at which program placements typically occurs. Second, we compare training programmes to practice programmes. The results in Larsson (2003) from such a comparison indicated better effects of the prac-

tice programme, especially in the short run. However, her results pertain to the early 1990s, and both programmes and the economic environment have changed substantially since then.

Since selection into different forms of programmes may well be nonrandom we use a large number of available covariates to adjust for any observed differences between different programme participants. This is done using both regression and propensity score matching. We estimate the effects on essentially the same outcomes as in the previous section, only measured from the start of the programme in this case.

Table A1 provides a description of participants in the municipality provided YG program and participants in the PES administrated labour market training (LMT)¹⁶ and work practice (WP) programs which are by far the two most common alternatives. By estimating a probit regression including these covariates as well as dummies for month of registration and county dummies we predict the individuals' propensity to participate in YG and create a matched sample drawn from the PES program participants by matching on the "nearest neighbour". The third column shows the difference between the actual and matched samples along with standard errors.

Table 6.1 shows estimated programme effects based on OLS and Cox proportional hazard regressions as well as results based on propensity score matching where both regressions and matching use all the covariates described in Table A1.

The results suggest that the municipality provided youth guarantee programmes (YG) are outperformed by the combination of labour market training and work practice provided by the PES: the YG participants experience more PES registration, slower hazards to jobs and to all exits, lower future income and employment and higher take-up of social assistance. The estimates are remarkably similar between the matching approach and the parametric Cox and OLS regressions.

The discrepancy between "all exits" and job exits estimates in Table 6.1 reflects that exits to regular education are more common among YG participants. It should be noted, however, that these exits should not be driving the other results – it is unlikely that more frequent exits to education both increase subsequent unemployment *and* reduce subsequent employment.

¹⁶ Including also "preparatory training".

Registration							Hazards		
	(# de	ays from p	programme sta	rts)			1142	urus	
	183 365 730 1095 T							All	
Regres-									
sions									
YG	0.009**	-0.003	0.015**	0.01	0.010** 0.872**		*	0.975**	
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.0)	(0.003) (0.008)			(0.007)	
Ν	89986	89986	88329	734	-30	89986		89986	
Matching									
YG	-0,001	-0,010*	0,009*	0.01	11**	0,894**	*	0,996	
	(0,005)	(0,004)	(0,004)	(0.0)	004)	(0,012)		(0,010)	
Constant	0,431**	0,243**	0,148**	0.121**					
	(0,005)	(0,004)	(0,003)	(0.0)	003)				
Ν	81470	81470	79604	64076 814		8147	70	81470	
		N	on-PES admin	ister	red out	comes			
	Income (t+2)			1) Employment (t+2)		Social assis- tance (t+2)			
Regres- sions								,	
YG	-0.173**	-0.0)70**	-0.071**		0.032**			
	(0.014)	(0.0)	004)	(0.005)		5)	(0.003)		
Ν	44026	749	96	53716		5	53716		
Matching									
YG	-0,142**	-0,0	61**	-0,068**		3**	0.031**		
	(0,021)	(0,0	06)	(0,007)		7)	(0.006)		
Constant	6,528**	0,51	10**		0,575	**	0.21	7**	
	(0,018)	(0,0	005)		(0,006	<u>5</u>)	(0.0)	05)	
Ν	37332	656	52		46314	Ļ	463	14	

Table 6.1: Estimates of relative programme effects – Municipality (YG) vs. PES.

Note: regressions are OLS, linear probability models or Cox Proportional Hazard models. Matching is by nearest neighbour, representative for YG. Various covariates capturing education. family situation, labour market history and demographic characteristics are included. See Apendix A for a description. The same variables are included in the regressions as in the matching model. Income is log annual labour income. Employment dummy is measured in November by Statistics Sweden. Social assistance is a dummy variable. Standard errors are corrected for individual clusters. * (**) Significant at the 5 % (1 %) level.

In Table 6.2 we show the results when we compare training programmes to practice programmes. Descriptions of the samples are found in columns four to six in table A1 in the appendix. In terms of PES registration and hazards to jobs and all exits training does worse than practice. The effect on registration is, however, only significant over a one-year horizon.

	<i>Registration</i> (# days from programme starts)						Hazards	
	6		205	т ·	1 4 11			
	183	183 365 730 10)95	То јо	b All	
Regres-								
sions								
Training	0.072**	0.041**			0	0.855**	0.843**	
	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.00	3)	(0.010)	(0.008)	
N	49229	49229	48529	4153	3	49229	49229	
Matching								
Training	0.059**	0.045**	0.004	0.003	3	0.881**	0.877**	
	(0.007)	(0.006)	(0.005)	(0.00	5)	(0.016)	(0.013)	
Constant	0.402**	0.214**	0.142**	0.120)**			
	(0.006)	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.00	(0.005)			
Ν	57286	57286	56545	4754	9	57286	57286	
		Ν	on-PES adn	inistere	d outco	omes		
	Income (t+2	Income (t+2) Employment (t-			-1) Employment (t+2)		Social assis- tance (t+2)	
Regres-								
sions								
Training	0.073**	-0.0	03		0.014*		0.010*	
U	(0.016)	(0.0	05)		(0.006)		(0.004)	
Ν	25770	422		30669			30669	
Matching								
Training	0.057*	-0.0	-0.009 0.		0.020*		0.012	
0	(0.024)	(0.0			(0.009)		(0.007)	
Constant	6.646**	`	54**		0.603**		0.167**	
-	(0.021)	(0.0	07)		(0.008)		(0.006)	
Ν	29002	486	/		34550		34550	

Table 6.2: Estimates of relative programme effects – Training vs. Practice.

Note: regressions are OLS, linear probability models or Cox Proportional Hazard models. Matching is by nearest neighbour, representative for the labour market training. Various covariates capturing education. family situation, labour market history and demographic characteristics are included. See Apendix A for a description. The same variables are included in the regressions as in the matching model. Income is log annual labour income. Employment dummy is measured in November by Statistics Sweden. Social assistance is a dummy variable. Standard errors are corrected for individual clusters. * (**) Significant at the 5 % (1 %) level.

When instead considering income, employment and social assistance takeup, a somewhat different picture emerges. Training now outperforms practice in terms of the effects on both employment and income; these effects are significantly positive the second year after programme entry. The matching estimate of the effect on social assistance take-up is insignificant. This pattern in combination with the results on PES registration and hazards would be consistent with training giving rise to human capital accumulation (both directly and indirectly through exits to regular education) giving positive treatment effects through higher productivity. This process seems to take some time, which, e.g., could be explained by the treatment (and the higher productivity associated therewith) resulting in an increased reservation wage.

7 Conclusions

The paper studies the efficiency of Swedish youth labour market policies. Using sharp age discontinuities which define which policy regime an individual is covered by we are able to present quasi-experimental evidence on the relative efficiency of different policy regimes currently in use. Our results show that youth policies are effective in shortening the unemployment spells of young workers. The effects mainly appear early in the unemployment spell and are short lived; we find no evidence of positive long run effects. Further results suggest that youth *programmes* run by the municipalities are outperformed by general labour market programmes when studying the effects on the actual participants. A tentative conclusion is that the positive effects from youth policies are driven by higher quality search-assistance and/or pre-programme deterrence effects from early expected programme entry. Furthermore, the results suggest that decentralizing the implementation to the local authorities from the national Public Employment Service reduced program effectiveness in promoting transitions to jobs.

Since we know little of what treatment the municipalities provide, we also study differences in effectiveness of different PES-administrated programs and find, in line with previous studies, that training programs have worse short run performance than practice programs. However, the long run results show signs of opposite effects. This result is interesting since it departs from the general notion that training programs are less effective than practice programs in Sweden. The results are consistent with training programs providing higher productivity and therefore higher reservation wages. However, given that this paper is the first to find this kind of long run effects, and that the results differ somewhat between outcome variables, the results call for further research on the long run effects of labour market training in Sweden in general before further conclusions can be drawn.

References

- Carling K & L Larsson (2005) Does early intervention help the unemployed youth?, *Labour Economics*, 12, 301-319
- Blundell, R, M Costa Dias, C Meghir & J Van Reenen (2004), Evaluating the employment impact of a mandatory job search program, *Journal of the European Economic Association* 2, 569-606.
- Calmfors L, Forslund A & M Hemström (2004) The effects of active labormarket policies in Sweden: What is the evidence?, in J Agell, M Keen and J Weichenrieder (eds), *Labor Market Institutions and Public Regulation*, MIT Press
- Heckman, J J & A B Krueger (2003), *Inequality in America*. What role for human capital policies?, MIT Press.
- Heckman, J J, R J LaLonde & J A Smith (1999), The economics and econometrics of active labor market programs, in O C Ashenfelter and D Card (eds), *Handbook of Labor Economics*, Vol. 3A, North-Holland.
- Hägglund, P (2006), Are there pre-programme effects of Swedish active labour market policies? Evidence from three randomised experiments. Working Paper 2006:2, IFAU, Uppsala.
- Larsson L (2003) Evaluation of Swedish youth programs, *Journal of Human Resources* 38, 891-927.
- Lundin D (2004), "Vad styr arbetsförmedlarna?, Rapport 2004:16, IFAU, Uppsala.
- Martin, J P & D Grubb (2001), What works and for whom: a review of OECD countries' experiences with active labour market policies, *Swedish Economic Policy Review* 8, 9-56.
- Sibbmark K & A Forslund (2005) "Kommunala arbetsmarknadsinsatser riktade till ungdomar mellan 18 och 24 år", Rapport 2005:9, IFAU, Uppsala.

IFAU - Swedish youth labour market policies revisited

White, M & G Knight (2003), "Benchmarking the effectiveness of NDYP : A review of European and US literature on the microeconomic effects of labour market programmes for young people", Research Discussion Paper 10, PSI, London.

A Description of programme participants

Table A.1. Comparisons of actual and matched programme participants Mu-
nicipality vs PES and Labour Market Training vs. Work Practice.

	Municipality vs. PES				LMT vs. WP			
	Munic.	PES	Matched difference	LMT	WP	Matched difference		
Year	2001.1	2000.9	0.021 (0.014)	2000.9	2000.8	-0.001 (0.019)		
Age	22.07	22.29	0.017 (0.015)	22.33	22.24	-0.006 (0.021)		
Male	0.587	0.632	0.006 (0.005)	0.662	0.590	-0.001 (0.007)		
Immigration status			(0.000)			(0.007)		
Non-Nordic im- migrant	0.171	0.131	-0.002 (0.004)	0.141	0.117	0.006 (0.005)		
Nordic Immi- grant.	0.006	0.007	0.000 (0.001)	0.007	0.007	-0.001 (0.001)		
Swedish w. Non- Nordic parent	0.082	0.061	-0.004 (0.003)	0.068	0.051	-0.002 (0.004)		
Swedish with Nordic parent	0.082	0.076	-0.003	0.079	0.072	-0.002 (0.004)		
Education (Ref. Vocational			(0.000)			(0.001)		
high school)	0.011	0.012	0.001	0.010	0.014	0.002		
University (at lest 3 years)	0.011	0.012	(0.001)	0.010	0.014	-0.002 (0.001)		
Some post HS ed.	0.045	0.046	0.003 (0.002)	0.041	0.053	-0.003 (0.003)		
Academic High	0.138	0.146	0.005	0.146	0.147	-0.005		
school	0.404	0.352	(0.003) -0.008	0.370	0.326	(0.005) 0.005		
Not completed HS Missing	0.013	0.015	(0.005) -0.000 (0.001)	0.013	0.018	(0.007) 0.001 (0.001)		

	Mu	nicipality v	s. PES		LMT vs. WP		
	Munic.	PES	Matched difference	LMT	WP	Matched difference	
Family							
(ref. no children)							
Living w parents	0.388	0.356	0.005 (0.005)	0.358	0.353	0.008 (0.007)	
Single parent	0.038	0.029	0.000 (0.002)	0.027	0.031	0.001 (0.002)	
Couple with chil- dren	0.081	0.091	-0.003 (0.003)	0.089	0.094	0.003 (0.004)	
Social assistance previous year	0.342	0.290	-0.014** (0.005)	0.298	0.278	0.008 (0.007)	
Social assistance two years before <i>Labour market</i> <i>history</i>	0.346	0.305	-0.012* (0.005)	0.315	0.291	0.010 (0.007)	
First period	0.177	0.153	0.006 (0.004)	0.143	0.166	0.003 (0.005)	
First programme	0.504	0.458	0.008 (0.005)	0.459	0.458	-0.007 (0.007)	
Days since last period	398.1	398.0	11.006** (4.090)	390.5	408.3	1.691 (5.492)	
Number of days in prev. Periods	315.7	350.9	-3.955 (3.415)	351.8	349.5	2.904 (5.046)	
Income previous year	429.8	550.3	14.094* (5.548)	591.0	493.1	-13.540 (10.412)	
Income two years before	288.5	380.1	12.374** (4.418)	400.7	351.3	-10.116 (8.716)	
# Employers pre- vious year	1.059	1.193	0.018*	1.222	1.153	-0.006 (0.013)	
# Employers two years before	0.911	1.044	(0.009) 0.005 (0.009)	1.063	1.017	-0.012 (0.013)	

Table A.1 (continued and continues)

	Mu	nicipality vs		LMT vs. WP		
	Munic.	PES	Matched difference	LMT	WP	Matched difference
Search in extended	0.206	0.253	-0.001	0.247	0.262	-0.009
geographic area			(0.004)			(0.006)
Disabled	0.041	0.070	-0.005* (0.002)	0.066	0.076	-0.000 (0.003)
Compensation (ref Unemployment Insurance)						
Basic amount	0.378	0.293	-0.013* (0.005)	0.292	0.294	0.007 (0.006)
	0.256	0.232	0.003	0.225	0.243	0.008
None			(0.005)			(0.006)
Days in spell be-	95.83	77.22	-0.381	78.24	75.78	1.074
fore program			(0.630)			(0.843)
Propensity	0.540	0.381	0.000	0.612	0.541	0.000
			(0.002)			(0.002)
Periodes	40735	49229	81470	28643	20578	57286
Individuals	37056	44991	54791	26982	19520	36923

Table A.1 (continued)

Note: Data for programme spells starting between 1999 and 2003. Individuals are aged between 20 and 24 at the time of programme entry. Only Labour Market Training and Work Practice spells are included in PES programs. Averages are for the full population. Differences are after nearest neighbour matching on probit-estimated propensity score. The probit included all listed covariates as well as 60 dummies for month of programme start and 24 county dummies. "Age" was interacted with "Year". "Previous earnings" were included with squares. "Previous employers" were included as dummies (0,1, 2, at least 3). "Days in spell before program" were included as dummies (one for each 30 day period, one for 300-400 days). Standard errors are corrected for individual clusters. * (**) significant at 5 (1) percent level.

Publication series published by the Institute for Labour Market Policy Evaluation (IFAU) – latest issues

Rapporter/Reports

- **2006:1** Zenou Yves, Olof Åslund & John Östh "Hur viktig är närheten till jobb för chanserna på arbetsmarknaden?"
- **2006:2** Mörk Eva, Linus Lindqvist & Daniela Lundin "Påverkar maxtaxan inom barnomsorgen hur mycket föräldrar arbetar?"
- 2006:3 Hägglund Pathric "Anvisningseffekter" finns dom? Resultat från tre arbetsmarknadspolitiska experiment"
- **2006:4** Hägglund Pathric "A description of three randomised experiments in Swedish labour market policy"
- **2006:5** Forslund Anders & Oskar Nordström Skans "(Hur) hjälps ungdomar av arbetsmarknadspolitiska program för unga?"

Working Papers

- **2006:1** Åslund Olof, John Östh & Yves Zenou "How important is access to jobs? Old question improved answer"
- **2006:2** Hägglund Pathric "Are there pre-programme effects of Swedish active labour market policies? Evidence from three randomised experiments"
- 2006:3 Johansson Per "Using internal replication to establish a treatment effect"
- **2006:4** Edin Per-Anders & Jonas Lagerström "Blind dates: quasi-experimental evidence on discrimination"
- 2006:5 Öster Anna "Parental unemployment and children's school performance"
- **2006:6** Forslund Anders & Oskar Nordström Skans "Swedish youth labour market policies revisited"

Dissertation Series

- **2005:1** Nilsson Anna "Indirect effects of unemployment and low earnings: crime and children's school performance"
- 2003:1 Andersson Fredrik "Causes and labor market consequences of producer heterogeneity"
- 2003:2 Ekström Erika "Essays on inequality and education"